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CORPORATE PROFILE

The Company had changed its name to 
Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) 
Limited on 31 July 2012 following the 
completion of the acquisition by Fastube 
Limited (the “Reverse Acquisition”). 

The Company’s history dates back to 
1997 when our operations began under 
Atlantic Maritime Services LLC (“AMS 
LLC”) in Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
(“UAE”). The principal business activities 
of AMS LLC were to provide ship repair, 
fabrication and other marine services to 
ship owners in the UAE region. Today, 
we are an integrated offshore supply 
operation principally engaged in the 
provision of marine logistics services, 
ship repair, fabrication and other marine 
services.

As an integrated offshore service 
provider, we operate out of the UAE 
serving primarily customers in the Middle 
East and India. We operate through our 
subsidiaries, Atlantic Maritime Group 
FZE, which is based in Hamriyah 
Freezone, Sharjah, as well as Atlantic 
Ship Management LLC. 

Over the years, our dedicated services 
has enabled us to establish strong 
and stable relationships with various 
leading oil companies, contractors, 
survey companies, ship owners, ship 
yards and charterers in the region. We 

count amongst our customers leading 
companies in the oil and gas industry, 
such as Abu Dhabi Marine Operating 
Company (ADMA-OPCO), BGP Arabia 
Co. Ltd, Bunduq Oil Company, Fugro, 
Global Industries Offshore LLC., J Ray 
McDermott M.E Inc., Larsen & Toubro 
Limited, Maersk Oil, MUSC FZE, UTEC 
Survey, Zakum Development Company 
(ZADCO), and Wintershall.

Our business activities can be broadly 
segmented into two (2) operating 
divisions, which are vertically integrated 
to provide a one-stop solution to our 
customers:-

Marine Logistics Services (“MLS”) 

The MLS division provides ship 
chartering as well as technical 
management services principally for 
the offshore oil and gas and marine 
construction industries in the Middle 
East and India. Our MLS division is 
supported by our own fleet of 13 
vessels, which comprise a variety of 
AHT, AHTS, jack-up accommodation 
barges, barges, tugs vessels and supply 
vessels, in addition to the vessels from 
our exclusively managed fleet. We also 
cross charter vessels from third parties 
to serve the specific tonnage, duration 
and technical needs of our customers. 

In relation to the oil and gas industry, we 
provide a range of services spanning the 
different phases of the oil and gas cycle, 
namely, in the exploration, construction 
and development, production and post-
production phases. 

The MLS division is the main business 
segment in our business, consistently 
contributing to more than 90% of 
our revenues for the past four (4) 
years. The MLS division accounted 
for approximately 91% of the Group’s 
revenue in FY2012.

Ship Repair, Fabrication and other 
Marine Services (“SRM”)

Our SRM division provides afloat 
and drydock repair and maintenance 
services, including mechanical works, 
electrical works, air-conditioning works, 
steel works, blasting and painting and 
carpentry, which is supported by the 
workshop facilities at our premises at 
Hamriyah Free Zone to customers in the 
shipping industry and vessels utilised 
in our marine logistics services as part 
of our strategy to provide a vertically 
integrated service. 

Our SRM division accounted for 
approximately 9% of the Group’s 
revenue in FY2012.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Valued Shareholders

On behalf of the Board and Management, I am pleased 
to present the results of Atlantic Navigation Holdings 
(Singapore) Limited (the “Company” and together 
with its subsidiaries and associated companies, the 
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 
(“FY2012”).

FY2012 was an eventful year for the Company. With the 
completion of the Reverse Acquisition, the Company 
changed its name to Atlantic Navigation Holdings 
(Singapore) Limited, which positioned the Group as an 
integrated offshore marine logistics and repair services 
business operating out of the United Arab Emirates. The 
old steel business of the Group was disposed off. We 
also successfully completed a share placement exercise 
raising US$8.8 million. 

Established in 1997, our MLS division (“MLS”) provides 
logistics services to the marine and oil and gas sector 
in the Middle East. The MLS division is supported by 
our own fleet of 13 vessels and cross chartering and 
management of third party vessels. Our SRM division 
(“SRM”) provides repair and maintenance services to 
vessels under the care of our MLS division as well as 
third party vessels.

Financial Performance
For FY2012, we reported revenue of US$35.3 million, 
which was 13.1% lower than FY2011. Our MLS 
division’s revenue was US$32.2 million was 15.6% 
lower versus FY2011 while the SRM division achieved a 
healthy increase in revenue to US$3.1 million. The lower 
revenue for our MLS division as compared to FY2011 
was mainly due to the reduced capacity as a result 
of the sale of two of our older vessels in Q1 FY2012 
and a lower utilisation rate for one of our older vessels. 
Nevertheless, overall vessel utilisation rate for FY2012 
was high at 90.5%. Group net profit after tax was 
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US$0.6 million after taking into account non-operating 
expenses related to the Reverse Acquisition of US$ 5.4 
million. Excluding the expenses incurred for the Reverse 
Acquisition, the Group’s net profit would have been 
US$6.0 million as compared to the Group’s net profit 
of US$7.6 million in FY2011 (which excludes one-time 
gains of US$3.7 million). 

We generated positive cashflows from operating 
activities of US$20.3 million which, together with the 
net proceeds from share placement of US$8.8 million, 
enabled us to fund part of the acquisition costs of two 
vessels amounting to US$23.5 million. The Group ended 
FY2012 with a strong cash position of US$7.5 million.

In line with the Group’s continuous fleet upgrading 
program, we disposed of 2 old vessels and took delivery 
of a new-build Anchor Handling Tug in Q1 FY2012. In 
the second half of the year we purchased a jack-up 
rig for conversion to a jack-up accommodation barge. 
The modification was completed in January 2013 and 
the vessel is now deployed on a 2 year contract with 
an Abu Dhabi oil company, with the option for a 1 year 
extension to the contract. The Group has also begun 
new marketing and business development initiatives 
in 2012 which resulted in our securing more long-term 
charters and diversifying from our traditional markets. 
Our firm charters as at the end of FY2012 stood at 
US$31.7 million, substantially higher than the US$10.1 
million as at the end of FY2011. We have also made our 
first successful foray into the African market. 

Outlook and Prospects
2012 has been a stable year. The Middle East continues 
to be one of the world’s most active offshore regions.  
The Directors believe that spending in the Middle 
East is expected to rise in 2013. The sustained high 
price of oil has encouraged continued investment and 
enhancement of existing fields. However, charter rates 
for some vessels may face some downward pressure 
due to the anticipated delivery of new capacity in 2013.  

Against this environment, the Group sees opportunities 
for growth and is continuing with its plan to renew 
and grow its fleet to capitalise on opportunities in the 
industry. We will continue to invest in specialised vessels 
that meet the unique demands of the region.  We are 
also exploring projects in West Africa. There are also 
opportunities in new businesses synergistic with our 
core capabilities.

Our strategic focus is to renew, grow and optimise our 
fleet and capabilities so as to build a quality stream 
of recurrent income. We have also converted three 
charters to long term charters, including the two new 
vessels we purchased during the year, and this should 
further improve our utilisation rate in 2013.  The new 
jack-up accommodation barge has been successfully 
refurbished and deployed in January 2013 under a 
two year charter agreement, with the option for a one 
year extension to the agreement. We expect these firm 
contracts to have a positive impact on our performance 
in 2013. To support the Group’s growth initiatives, we 
are also taking steps to build up our human resource to 
cater for our planned fleet expansion and wider market 
coverage. 

I would like to thank the members of the Board and 
our advisors for their guidance and support.  I would 
also like to recognise the hard work and dedication of 
all members of the management and staff, who are the 
true assets of the Group. 

Mr Wong Siew Cheong
Executive Chairman  
and Chief Executive Officer
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Mr Wong was appointed to the Board on 31 July 2012 and is responsible for the strategic 
planning and development of the Group’s business and spearheading the expansion and growth 
of the Group. Mr Wong is the founder of the Group and has more than thirty years experience 
in the marine chartering and shipbuilding, repair, fabrication and maintenance business. Prior to 
establishing the Group, Mr Wong served as general manager of Selat Marine Service Co. Ltd. 
from 1991 to 1996, where he was responsible for the overall marketing, technical management 
and operations of their offshore vessels. Prior to joining Selat Marine Service Co. Ltd., Mr Wong 
was the shipyard manager at Marine Engineering Services Co (LLC) in Sharjah, UAE, where he 
was in charge of running the shipyard’s operations and expansion program. Mr Wong has also 
worked with Qubaiai Int’l Est. Abu Dhabi, and the Keppel Group in Singapore. 

Mr Wong graduated with a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering from the University of Singapore 
in 1977.

Mr Wong Siew Cheong
Executive Chairman  
and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Tong was appointed to the Board on 31 July 2012 and is responsible for the overall financial 
management and administrative management of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, from March 
to August 2010 Mr Tong sat on the Board of Hi-P International Ltd., a company listed on the 
Mainboard of the SGX-ST, as an independent director and as a member of its audit committee. In 
August 2010, he resigned as independent director of Hi-P International Ltd., and was appointed 
as a senior consultant to the chief executive officer of Hi-P International Ltd, a post he held until 
November 2011. Mr Tong has also served as chief executive officer and executive director of mDR 
Limited, a company listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST from 2005 to 2010, and had worked 
in various senior management positions with Flextronics International Ltd., JIT Limited, Thomson 
Consumer Electronics Marketing Asia Pte. Ltd., United Circuits (HK) Ltd and United Greatwall 
(China) Ltd. and Motorola Electronics Pte Ltd.

Mr Tong graduated from the South West London College, Faculty of Accountancy in 1977, and is 
a certified accountant under the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (UK).

Mr Tong Choo Cherng
Executive Director  
(Finance)

Mr Eu Lee Koon Mr Wong Siew Cheong Mr Lee Kah Hoo Mr Goh Boon Chye Mr Tong Choo Cherng
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Mr Lee was appointed to the Board on 22 August 2011 as an independent director, Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee, and member of the Nominating Committee and Audit Committee. 
Upon the completion of the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012, Mr Lee was re-
designated as Lead Independent Director of the Group. Mr Lee is presently a consultant to Fortis 
Hospitality Management Pte Ltd. Between 2010 and 2011, Mr Lee was the acting president and 
senior advisor of Vina Properties Development Group, a Vietnamese corporation based in Ho Chi 
Minh City with businesses in logistics, aviation, hospitality and property/construction. Previously, Mr 
Lee had worked with mDR Limited, a company listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST, Singapore 
Technologies Kinetics Ltd, and assumed various general management positions and directorships 
in companies within Chartered Industries and Sembawang Corporation. 

Mr Lee holds a degree in mechanical engineering from the University of Singapore, a diploma in 
management studies from the Singapore Institute of Management and had attended the Program 
for Management Development at the Harvard Business School.

Mr Lee Kah Hoo 
Lead Independent Director

Mr Goh was appointed to the Board on 31 July 2012. Mr Goh is currently the managing director 
of MG Capital (Asia) Limited. He is also a consultant to KS Energy Services Limited, a company 
listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST. Prior to this, Mr Goh held various positions in KS Energy 
Services Limited between 1999 to 2010, including chief financial officer, executive director, chief 
operating officer, chief business development officer and managing director where his duties mainly 
involved overseeing financial, accounting and internal control matters. Prior to that, Mr Goh was 
the managing director of Ampwatts Electric Pte Ltd, and had worked in Motorola Electronics Pte 
Ltd. KBC Group, Malaysia, Parker Hannifin Singapore Pte Ltd. and Arthur Anderson & Company. 

Mr Goh graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Accountancy, and 
is a fellow of the Singapore Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He also holds a Masters in 
Business Administration from Oklahoma City University.

Mr Eu was appointed to the Board on 31 July 2012. Mr Eu is currently the Chief Executive Officer 
of Sharjah Asset Management, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Government of Sharjah, where 
he is responsible for strategic developments and directing all investment activities. Prior to that, 
he was the executive director of Capital Plus Pte Ltd from 2000 to 2008 and from 1997 to 2000 
he was a vice president at GIC Special Investments Private Limited, which is a subsidiary of the 
Government of Singapore Investment Corporation, where he was responsible for the portfolio 
management of the global portfolio. Mr Eu had also previously worked in senior management 
positions with Myanmar Capital Management Pte Ltd, AIA-Waldern Management Pte Ltd, ST 
Aerospace Ltd. and the Ministry of Defence, Singapore. 

Mr Eu graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the National University of Singapore in 1984 
and obtained a Master of Business Administration from the same university in 1992. Mr Eu was 
awarded the Singapore Government Scholarship in 1980.

Mr Goh Boon Chye
Independent Director

Mr Eu Lee Koon
Independent Director
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Mr Sadeghi is the Group’s Chief Operating Officer, and is responsible for the day-to-day 
operations of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Sadeghi was a technical operation 
manager of the AQUA Group in Dubai, and between 1999 and 2001, Mr Sadeghi was a 
technical operation manager of Irano-Hind Shipping Co., a joint venture between Islamic 
Republic of Iran Shipping Lines Co (IRISL) and Shipping Corporation of India. Mr Sadeghi 
has also held various technical and managerial roles in IRISL, including responsibility for new 
vessels in IRISL’s Guangzhou shipyard from 1985 to 1999.

Mr Sadeghi graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Marine Engineering in 1985 from the 
Marine Engineering College of Calcutta, India.

Mr Mohammad Reza Sadeghi
Chief Operating Officer

Mr Wong is the Group’s Sales and Marketing Manager and is responsible for the sales, 
business development and management of clients for the Group’s MLS segment. Mr Wong 
joined the Group as the Business Development Manager of the Group’s MLS segment in 
2011 and was re-designated as Sales and Marketing Manager (MLS Division) in January 
2013 to focus on the Group’s sales and marketing activities. Prior to joining the Group, Mr 
Wong was a manager of communications and design for TransGrid Australia from 2002 to 
2011. Mr Wong has also held various managerial and engineering positions in PowerTel 
Australia , Binariang Malaysia, and Cable & Wireless Optus Pty Ltd Australia from 1994 to 
2001. 

Mr Wong graduated with a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering from Sydney University in 1994 
and a Master of Business Administration from Deakin University in 2000.

Mr Wong is the nephew of the Group’s Executive Chairman and CEO, Mr Wong Siew 
Cheong.

Mr Wong Sek Pun
Sales and Marketing Manager 
(MLS Division)

Mr Bayezid joined the Group in 2002 and is the Group’s Finance Manager. He is responsible 
for assisting the Group’s Executive Director (Finance), Mr Tong Choo Cherng in managing the 
Group’s accounting and finance functions, including the development and implementation 
of financial policies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Bayezid was an independent financial 
controller cum functional accounting consultant to various companies based in the 
UAE. He has also previously worked in accounting and /or internal auditing positions for 
Farnek Service LLC, Arab Supply and Trading Corporation, Tabuk, Saudi Arabia, Anjuman 
Engineering College, Bhatkal, Karnataka, India, Fastrade International, Dubai and Gulf 
Furnishing Establishment, Dubai. 

Mr Bayezid graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce from Bangalore University, India in 
1979.

Mr Zamirul Hassan Bayezid
Group Finance Manager
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Our revenue of US$35.3 million in FY2012 was 13.1% lower 
than FY2011 mainly due to reduced capacity in the MLS division 
resulting from the sale of two old vessels and lower utilisation 
for one of our older vessels. Revenue for the SRM division for 
FY2012 increased by US$0.6 million or 25.5% compared to 
FY2011 mainly due to higher level of activities resulting from 
a general increase in vessel utilisation and stronger industry 
performance. 

Gross profit decreased by 17.9% to US$11.0 million mainly due 
to:

- a decrease in revenue contribution from the MLS division, 
and a lower gross profit margin resulting from the cessation 
of charter contracts for three (3) of the Group’s vessels 
which carried comparatively higher charter rates in FY2011;

- an increase in crew costs in the MLS division; and

- a decrease in gross profit margin for the SRM division from 
39.2% in FY2011 to 34.7% in FY2012 due to a change in 
the job mix.

Other income of US$0.2million comprised mainly the claims 
against the delay in delivery of a vessel and gains arising from 
the disposal of investment securities. 

Administrative expenses decreased by 13.1% to US$3.8 milion 
in FY2012. The decrease was in line with the decrease in our 
revenue.

Finance costs remained fairly consistent in FY2012 at US$1.4 
million as compared to US$1.5 million for FY2011. 

The non-operating expenses of US$5.4 million for FY2012 were 
mainly expenses incurred in relation to the Reverse Acquisition.

As such, profit after tax for the Group in FY2012 was US$0.6 
million. Excluding expenses of US$5.4 million relating to the 
Reverse Acquisition, the Group’s net profit would have been 
US$6.0 million in FY2012, as compared to the Group’s net 
profit of US$7.4 million in FY2011 (excluding one-time gains of 
US$3.7 million). 

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets increased by US$16.5 million from US$57.7 
million as at 31 December 2011 to US$74.2 million as at 31 
December 2012 due mainly to an increase in property, vessels 
and equipment arising from the acquisition of a new vessel 
which has been deployed for operation as well as a jack-up 
accommodation barge. This was partially offset by the disposal 
of two old vessels.
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Current assets increased by US$7.4 million from US$11.3 
million as at 31 December 2011 to US$18.7 million as at 31 
December 2012 due mainly to an increase in trade and other 
receivables and an increase in cash and cash equivalents 
as a result of the proceeds from placement of new shares 
undertaken in September 2012. The increase was partially offset 
by a decrease in bank deposits pledged of US$1.9 million due 
to the repayment of bank loans.

Non-current liabilities decreased by US$5.1 million from 
US$15.5 million as at 31 December 2011 to US$10.4 million as 
at 31 December 2012 due mainly to the repayment of a term 
loan.

Current liabilities increased by US$15.7 million from US$8.8 
million as at 31 December 2011 to US$24.5 million as at 31 
December 2012 due mainly to an increase in trade and other 
payables, which was mainly in relation to the purchase and 
refurbishment of jack-up accommodation barge. 

Net Current Liabilities

The Group had negative working capital of approximately 
US$5.8 million as at 31 December 2012 as the Group 
had utilised internal sources of funds for the acquisition 
and refurbishment of a jack-up accommodation barge. 
Notwithstanding the negative working capital position of 
the Group, the Directors believe that the Group will be able 
to meet its financial obligations. The Group is finalising a 4 
year term loan of approximately US$15.0 million to partially 
refinance the purchase and modification cost of the jack-up and 
accomodation barge.

OUTLOOK

The Middle East continues to be one of the world’s most active 
offshore regions with spending in the Middle East expected to 
rise in 2013. The sustained high price of oil has encouraged 
continued investment and enhancement of existing fields. 
However, charter rates for some vessels may face some 
downward pressure due to the delivery of new capacity in 
2013.

Our strategic focus is to renew, grow and optimise our fleet 
so as to build a quality stream of recurrent income. We have 
invested in new vessels such as the jack-up accommodation 
barge and will continue to invest in specialised vessels that 
meet the unique demands of the region.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, 2013 is expected to be 
a better year for the Group. We have also converted three 
charters to long term charters and this should provide a firm 
support for our utilisation rates this year. Our new jack-up 
accommodation barge has been successfully refurbished and 
deployed in January 2013 under a two plus one year charter 
agreement. As a result, our firm charters as at the end of 
FY2012 stood at US$31.7 million, substantially higher than 
the US$10.1 million as at the end of FY2011 and will have a 
positive impact on our performance in 2013. The Group is also 
actively looking at opportunities outside of the Middle East, and 
are looking to increase our presence in Africa, where we have a 
vessel currently deployed.
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#  This represents the legal interests of the Group in Atlantic Ship Management LLC. The Directors consider Atlantic Ship Management LLC a 
subsidiary of the Group as the Group has control over the financial and operating policies and activities of this entity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited (“Atlantic” or the “Company”) is committed to maintaining a high standard 
of corporate governance within the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). 

The Company believes that it is in compliance in all material respects with the principles and guidelines as set out in the 
Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) and the requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section 
B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”) and has, where appropriate, put in place effective self-regulatory corporate 
practices to protect its shareholders’ interests and enhance long-term shareholders’ value.

A.  BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The 
Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to 
achieve this and Management remains accountable to the Board.

The primary role of the board of directors (the “Board”) is to lead and control the Company’s operations and affairs 
and to protect and enhance shareholders’ value. The Board establishes the corporate strategies of the Group and 
oversees the management of the Group’s business. The Board also ensures that the necessary resources are in 
place for the Company to meet its objectives.

The principal functions of the Board are:-

discharge of its duties and responsibilities, the Board has established the Audit Committee (“AC”), Remuneration 
Committee (“RC”) and Nominating Committee (“NC
reference and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings at least four (4) times a year to review the strategic policies of the 

issues that may arise.

Our Board was re-constituted following the completion of the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.
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FY2012”) 
and members’ attendance are summarized in the table below:

Meetings Board
Board Committees

Audit Nominating Renumeration

Total held in FY2012 3# 3# 1# 1#

Number of meetings attended

Board and Board Committee meetings held after 31 July 2012

Wong Siew Cheong(1) 1 1* – –

Tong Choo Cherng(2) 1 1* – –

Lee Kah Hoo(3) 1 1 – –

Goh Boon Chye(4) 1 1 – –

Eu Lee Koon(5) 1 1 – –

Board and Board Committee meetings held from 1 January 2012 to 31 July 2012

Gong Haitao(6) 1 1 1 1

Gong Yucai(6) 2 2* 1* 1*

Koh Kiat Huat(6) 2 2* 1* 1*

Lim Chin Tong(6) 2 2 1 1

Lee Kah Hoo(3) 2 2 1 1

Notes:

following the completion of the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.

acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.

member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee with effect from 31 July 2012, following the completion of 
the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.

Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee on 31 July 2012, following the completion of the acquisition by 
Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.

the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee on 31 July 2012, following the completion of the acquisition by Fastube 
Limited on 31 July 2012.

(6) Mr Gong Haitao, Mr Gong Yucai, Mr Koh Kiat Huat and Mr Lim Chin Tong had resigned as Directors of the Company with 
effect from 31 July 2012. No remuneration were payable to Mr Gong Haitao, Mr Gong Yucai and Mr Koh Kiat Huat for 
FY2012. The amount of Director’s fee payable to Mr Lim Chin Tong for FY2012 was S$18,083.88.

# One (1) Board meeting and one (1) Audit Committee meeting was held by the re-constituted Board subsequent to  
completion of the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 July 2012.

* By invitation.

operations and policies.
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Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 
objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small 
group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

Mr Wong Siew Cheong (1)

Mr Tong Choo Cherng (2)

Mr Lee Kah Hoo (3)

Mr Eu Lee Koon (4)

Mr Goh Boon Chye (5)

Notes:

The NC reviews the independence of directors on an annual basis. The Board is of the view that there is a good 

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company - the working of the 
Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business - which will ensure a balance of power and 
authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

on the corporate and business direction of the Group, scheduling and chairing of Board meetings, monitoring the 
quality, quantity and timeliness of information !ow between the Board and the management, as well as managing 
the day-to-day operations of the Group with the help of senior management. Mr Wong is the founder of the Group 

few years, Mr Wong has demonstrated his vision, strong leadership and enthusiasm in the Group’s business.

good balance of power and authority within the Board and no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s 
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Board Membership

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the 
Board.

of the NC are: 

The NC is governed by its written terms of reference. The principal functions of the NC are:

(b) to determine the process for search, nomination, selection and appointment of new board members and 
be responsible for assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the Board, determining 

(c) to be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The results of the performance 

one or more of the relationships mentioned under the Code is in fact independent, the Company should 

be considered independent. The NC may at its discretion determine a Director as non-independent even if he 

ability to contribute to the Board process and such qualities and attributes that may be required by the Board.

The Company’s Articles of Association requires at least one-third of the directors to retire by rotation at every Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) and a retiring director is eligible for re-election by the shareholders of the Company at 

reviewing the nomination of the retiring Directors, the NC considered the performance and contribution of each of 
the retiring Directors, having regard not only to their attendance and participation at Board and Board Committee 
meetings but also their time and efforts devoted to the Group’s business and affairs, especially the operational and 
technical contributions.

Mr Tong Choo Cherng, Mr Goh Boon Chye and Mr Eu Lee Koon are due to retire in accordance with Article 88 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and Mr Lee Kah Hoo under Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
respectively at the Company’s forthcoming AGM and will be eligible for re-election.

participating in any deliberations of the NC in respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination as 
Director.

 Key information regarding the directors is provided on pages 6 and 7 of the Annual Report.
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Board Performance

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board 
committees and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

and scope of the Company’s operations. 

The NC is of the view that it is more appropriate and effective to assess the Board as a whole, bearing in mind that 
each member of the Board contributes in different way to the success of the Company and Board decisions are 

of the Board during the year, and where improvements might be necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the 
Board.

Access to Information

Principle 6: In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, 
adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

The Board has independent and separate access to Management at all times in carrying out their duties. 
Management provides the Board with adequate and timely information and updates on initiatives and developments 
for the Group’s business whenever possible.

For subjects that require the Board’s decision, relevant members of management are invited to brief the Directors at 

disclosure documents are provided to the Board, where appropriate, prior to the Board meeting.

At least one of the Company Secretaries or their representatives attends all Board meetings and Board committee 
meetings to ensure that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

B.  REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved 
in deciding his own remuneration.

As at the date of this report, the RC comprises four (4) members, with a majority of whom, including the Chairman, 

Mr Wong Siew Cheong Member  Chairman and CEO

The RC is governed by its written terms of reference, which sets out its responsibilities:

(b) as part of its review, the RC shall ensure that:

i. all aspects of remuneration including directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and 

shall include a performance-related element coupled with appropriate and meaningful measures of 
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are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job 
scopes and levels of responsibility. 

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors 
needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this 
purpose. A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link 
rewards to corporate and individual performance.

and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of individual 
director. Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval at the Company’s AGM.

performance of the Group as well as their individual performance.

A new service agreement was entered into with the CEO for an initial term of three (3) years (“Service Agreement”). 
The CEO appointment shall automatically continue for a further period of one (1) year until terminated by either party 
giving not less than three (3) months’ notice in writing to the other in accordance with the provisions of the Service 
Agreement.

business needs of the Group.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should provide 
disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between 
remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and performance.

follows:

Directors’ fees Salary Bonus Other Benefits Total

Above S$250,000

Wong Siew Cheong – 100% – – 100%

Below S$250,000

Tong Choo Cherng – 100% – – 100%

Lee Kah Hoo 100% – – – 100%

Goh Boon Chye 100% – – – 100%

Eu Lee Koon 100% – – – 100%

Lim Chin Tong 100% – – – 100%

Gong Haitao – – – – –

Gong Yucai – – – – –

Koh Kiat Huat – – – – –
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follows:

Above S$250,000 
Steve Addison(1)  

Below S$250,000

Zamirul Hassan Bayezid  Group Finance Manager

Note:

(1) Ceased being an employee of the Group in FY2012.

employee of the Group who are immediate family members of a Director or the CEO. 

opportunity to participate in the equity of the Company and to enhance its competitive edge in attracting, recruiting 

November 2008, implemented the Atlantic Employee Share Option Scheme, Atlantic Performance Share Plan and 
Atlantic Restricted Share Plan. The Company believes that these long-term incentive schemes will align the interests 
of its employees with those of its shareholders.

There were no options or awards granted in FY2012. Further information on the Atlantic Employee Share Option 
Scheme, Atlantic Performance Share Plan and Atlantic Restricted Share Plan are set out in the Directors’ Report on 
pages 24 to 27 of this Annual Report.

C.  ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

all shareholders through SGXNET and the Company’s Annual Report.

prospects.

maintain continuing standards and vigilance.

Audit Committee

Principle 11: The Board should establish an AC with written terms of reference which clearly set out its 
authority and duties.

The AC performs its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the 
requirements of the Catalist Rules.

The AC comprises three (3) members, all of whom, including the Chairman, are independent. The members are:



Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited20

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The AC meets at least four times a year and as and when deemed appropriate to carry out its functions.

The AC assists the Board in discharging their responsibility to safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain adequate 
accounting records, and in developing and maintaining effective systems of internal controls.

The AC is governed by its written terms of reference. The principal functions of AC are as follows:

audit commences), their evaluation of the system of internal controls, their audit report, their management 

resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards, compliance 

amendments made thereto from time to time. 

The AC has put in place a whistle-blowing policy whereby employees may in confidence, report possible 

auditors.

The Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules.
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Internal Audit and Internal Controls

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the management maintains a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.
Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it 
audits.

reports directly to the Chairman of the AC. The main objective of the internal audit function is to assist the Group in 

its business objectives.

The Board notes that all internal control systems contain inherent limitations and no system of internal controls or 

Risk Management

the AC and the Board.

pages 69 to 73 of the Annual Report.

D.  COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

that the shareholders be informed of the major developments that impact the Group.

Group for the period.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders 
the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s AGM to clarify issues and to share their opinions or concerns. 

attendance to address shareholders’ queries.

Risk Management Policies and Processess
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Dealing in Securities

results and one (1) month prior to the announcement of the full year results as the case may be, and ending on the 
date of the announcement of the relevant results. Directors and employees who are in possession of unpublished 
material price-sensitive information of the Group should not deal in the Company’s securities on short term 

dealing in securities within the permitted trading periods.

Non-Sponsor Fees

With reference to Rule 1204(21) of the Catalist Rules, there were no non-sponsor fees paid to the Sponsor, 
Canaccord Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., subsequent to the completion of the acquisition by Fastube Limited on 31 
July 2012 to the date of printing of this annual report. The fees paid to the Sponsor in FY2012 for acting as Financial 
Adviser to the Company in relation to the Reverse Acquisition was US$213,776.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established review and approval procedures to ensure that interested person transactions entered 
into by the Group are conducted on normal terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of shareholders.

The AC has reviewed the rationale and terms of the Group’s interested person transactions and is of the view 
that the interested person transactions are entered on normal terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of 
shareholders.

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 

financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less 

than S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 

under the shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 

transactions less than S$100,000)

USD’000 USD’000

Atlantic Offshore Services LLC – 177

Atlantic Marine Services LLC – 628

Sealantic FZE 6,205 –
 



Annual Report 2012 23

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Material Contracts

amounting to US$2,000,000 to Atlantic Maritime Group FZE, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary. The loan is 
unsecured and bears interest at 2.5% per annum and is repayable on demand.

Use of Placement Proceeds

As at the date of the Auditors’ report, the Group has utilised S$8.6 million out of net proceeds from its placement of 

with the stated use and percentages allocated as stated on page 37 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 27 June 
2012.

materially disbursed.
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of Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for the 

Company as at 31 December 2012. 

1. Directors

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

shares of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of director
At the date of 
appointment

At the end of 
financial year

At the date of 
appointment

At the end of 
financial year

Ordinary shares of the Company

Wong Siew Cheong 173,000,000 173,000,000 33,375,000 33,375,000

and 21 January 2013.

share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the 

4. Directors’ contractual benefits
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5. Share plans

opportunity to participate in the equity of the Company and to enhance its competitive edge in attracting, recruiting 

adopted the following schemes:

Atlantic Employee Share Option Scheme (“Atlantic ESOS”)

Meeting held on 18 November 2008. Under the Scheme, the number of additional ordinary shares to be issued 

capital of the Company but subject to the aggregate number of shares available under all schemes (including Atlantic 

Atlantic ESOS was last renewed on 27 April 2012. As at the date of this report, no options have been granted under 
the Atlantic ESOS.

Atlantic Performance Share Plan (“Atlantic PSP”)

Meeting held on 18 November 2008. Under the Scheme, the number of additional ordinary shares to be issued 

capital of the Company but subject to the aggregate number of shares available under all schemes (including Atlantic 

Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. The Atlantic PSP was last 
renewed on 27 April 2012. As at the date of this report, no performance shares have been granted under the Atlantic 
PSP.

Atlantic Navigation Restricted Share Plan (“Atlantic RSP”)

The Company has adopted the Atlantic RSP, which was approved by shareholders of the Company at the 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company but subject to the aggregate number of shares available under all 

Atlantic RSP was last renewed on 27 April 2012. The details of the share awards are as follows:

Date of grant

Number of 
performance 

shares/awards Market price Vesting period

6 May 2009 1,718,000 S$0.165 5 years

At the date of this report, the committee which administers the Atlantic ESOS, Atlantic PSP and Atlantic RSP 
comprises Mr. Eu Lee Koon, Mr. Wong Siew Cheong and Mr. Tong Choo Cherng.
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5. Share plans (cont’d)

The details of awards granted to employees who received 5% or more of the total awards available under Atlantic 
RSP are as follows:

Name of participants

Awards 
granted 

during the 
financial 

year

Aggregate 
awards 

granted since 
commencement 

of scheme to 
31.12.12

Aggregate 
awards 

exercised since 
commencement 

of scheme to 
31.12.2012

Aggregate 
awards 

forfeited since 
commencement 

of scheme to 
31.12.2012

Aggregate 
awards 

outstanding 
as at 

31.12.2012

Various (1) – 1,718,000 – 1,718,000 (2) –

to the completion of the Reverse Acquisition of the Company on 31 July 2012.

(2) 470,000 awards outstanding as at 31 December 2011 were forfeited pursuant to the resignation of the respective 

 There were no awards granted to the directors, controlling shareholders and their associates of the Company since 

are no options on the unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries which were outstanding.

6. Audit committee

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the date of this report are:
 

Limited and the Code of Corporate Governance. The functions performed and further details are set out in the 
Corporate Governance Report. 

General Meeting.
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7. Independent auditor

the Company.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Wong Siew Cheong

Tong Choo Cherng

28 March 2013
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

We, Wong Siew Cheong and Tong Choo Cherng, being two of the directors of Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) 
Limited, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors:

changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash !ows together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the results of 
the business, changes in equity and cash !ows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year 

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Wong Siew Cheong

Tong Choo Cherng

28 March 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the Members of Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited

Report on the financial statements

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), set out on pages 30 to 76, which comprise the statements of 

and the Company and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash !ows of 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 

maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s responsibility

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

misstatement.

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

Opinion

of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company 
as at 31 December 2012 and the results, changes in equity and cash !ows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and

Singapore

28 March 2013



Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited30

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Note 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 4 35,347 40,677

Cost of services (24,341) (27,273)

Gross profit 11,006 13,404

Other income 5 235 3,866

Other items of expense

(48) (113)

(3,787) (4,357)

Finance costs 6 (1,427) (1,454)

7 – (90)

8 (5,369) – 

Profit before tax 9 610 11,256

10 – – 

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 610 11,256

Other comprehensive income:
18 318 (618)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company 928 10,638

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company (US$ cents) 

Basic and diluted 11 0.25 4.93
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Company
Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, vessels and equipment 12 74,048 57,325 – 2 3

13 – – 66,741 – –
Prepayments 178 283 – – –

14 – 123 – – –
74,226 57,731 66,741 2 3

Current assets
15 230 535 – – –

Trade and other receivables 16 10,281 7,590 7,894 40 121
Prepayments 565 129 – 1 –
Cash and cash equivalents 17 7,493 1,019 814 25 3

17 136 2,055 – – –
18,705 11,328 8,708 66 124

Total assets 92,931 69,059 75,449 68 127

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 18,126 2,039 147 2,715 2,105
Other liabilities 22 1,242 951 61 – –
Derivatives 18 215 296 – – –
Loans and borrowings 19 4,904 5,488 – – –

24,487 8,774 208 2,715 2,105
Net current (liabilities)/assets (5,782) 2,554 8,500 (2,649) (1,981)

Non-current liabilities
Other payable 21 – – – 2,558 2,471
Provisions 20 486 484 – – –
Derivatives 18 85 322 – – –
Loans and borrowings 19 9,809 14,713 – – –

10,380 15,519 – 2,558 2,471
Total liabilities 34,867 24,293 208 5,273 4,576
Net assets/(liabilities) 58,064 44,766 75,241 (5,205) (4,449)
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Company
Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company

Share capital 23 12,370 –* 85,534 10,289 10,289
Other reserves 24 (41) (359) – 632 701

losses) 45,735 45,125 (10,293) (16,126) (15,439)
Total equity 58,064 44,766 75,241 (5,205) (4,449)
Total equity and liabilities 92,931 69,059 75,449 68 127

* Less than US$1,000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Attributable to owners of the Company

Group
Equity, 
total

Share capital
(Note 23)

Other 
reserves
(Note 24)

Retained 
earnings

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2012 44,766 – * (359) 45,125
610 – – 610

Other comprehensive income
Gain on fair value changes in derivatives 318 – 318 – 
Total comprehensive income for the year 928 – 318 610

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Consideration shares issued in relation to the reverse 

acquisition 3,657 3,657 – – 
8,842 8,842 – – 

placement fees 1,544 1,544 – – 
(1,673) (1,673) – – 

Total transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners 12,370 12,370 – – 

Balance at 31 December 2012 58,064 12,370 (41) 45,735

Balance as at 1 January 2011 42,783 218 150 42,415
11,256 – – 11,256

Other comprehensive income
Loss on fair value changes in derivatives (618) – (618) – 
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,638 – (618) 11,256

Contributions by and distributions to owners

representing total contributions by and distributions 
to owners (Note 12) (8,655) (218) 109 (8,546)

Balance at 31 December 2011 44,766 – * (359) 45,125

* Less than US$1,000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Attributable to owners of the Company

Company
Equity,
total

Share capital
(Note 23)

Other 
reserves 
(Note 24)

Share 
award 

reserve 
(Note 24)

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

(Note 24)
Accumulated 

losses
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2012 (5,205) 10,289 632 20 612 (16,126)

total comprehensive income for 
the year 5,012 – – – – 5,012

Contributions by and distributions 
to owners

Change in estimates in relation to 
share award scheme (20) – (20) (20) – –

of subsidiaries 66,741 66,741 – – – –

placement 8,842 8,842 – – – –

consideration for compliance 
placement fees 1,544 1,544 – – – –

(1,673) (1,673) – – – –
Effect of change in functional 

currency – (209) (612) – (612) 821

Total transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners 75,434 75,245 (632) (20) (612) 821

Balance at 31 December 2012 75,241 85,534 – – – (10,293)

Balance as at 1 January 2011 (4,449) 10,289 701 87 614 (15,439)
Loss for the year (687) – – – – (687)
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation (2) – (2) – (2) –
Total comprehensive income for 

the year (689) – (2) – (2) (687)

Contributions by and distributions 
to owners

Change in estimates in relation to 
share award scheme (67) – (67) (67) – –

Balance at 31 December 2011 (5,205) 10,289 632 20 612 (16,126)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Note 2012 2011
US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities
610 11,256

Adjustments for:
Net gain on disposal of property, vessels and equipment 5 (29) –
Net gain on disposal of investment securities 5 (40) –
Depreciation of property, vessels and equipment 9 3,006 2,864
Allowance for doubtful debts, net 9 134 100
Finance costs 6 1,427 1,454
Provisions 20 96 147
Fair value loss on investment securities 7 – 90
Share-based payment as consideration for services rendered 23 154 –

8 3,657 –

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 9,015 15,911

305 (535)
(2,825) (2,277)

(331) 87
15,250 (273)

291 616
12,690 (2,382)

Cash generated from operations 21,705 13,529
(1,427) (1,454)

Net cash flows from operating activities 20,278 12,075

Investing activities
Purchase of property, vessels and equipment 12 (23,500) (2,825)
Proceeds from disposal of property, vessels and equipment 3,800 –
Proceeds from disposal of investment securities 163 162

Net cash flows used in investing activities (19,537) (2,663)

Financing activities
Proceeds from loan from a shareholder 2,000 –
Repayment of loans from a shareholder – (10,053)
Proceeds from loans and borrowings – 2,171
Repayment of loans and borrowings (5,488) (8,664)

1,919 (2,055)
Proceeds from issuance of shares for compliance placement 8,842 –

(1,540) –
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 5,733 (18,601)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,474 (9,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,019 10,208
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 7,493 1,019
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

1. Corporate information

1.1 The Company

The former name of the Company is Fastube Limited.  Upon the completion of a reverse acquisition on 31 July 2012, 
the Company’s name was changed to Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited which is a limited liability 

Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are 

1.2 Reverse acquisition undertaken by the Company (the “Reverse Acquisition”)

On 13 March 2011, Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”) had entered into a sale and 
purchase agreement with the then-controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Purchasers”) to dispose of the 

(equivalent to US$0.80) (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was subsequently completed on 31 July 2012 and pursuant to 
the Disposal, the Company became a non-trading shell company.

On 31 July 2012, the Company also completed the acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up capital of Atlantic 

The Acquisition has been accounted as a RTO and the legal subsidiaries, the Atlantic Group, is regarded as the 

(equivalent to US$0.29) per share in the capital of the Company on 31 July 2012.

The shares in the Company were consolidated on 31 July 2012 on the basis of one share for every 10 shares held by 
shareholders (“Share Consolidation”). The number of consolidated shares to which shareholders are entitled arising 
from the Share Consolidation were rounded down to the nearest whole consolidated share, and any fractions of 
Consolidated Shares arising from the Share Consolidation were disregarded.

At Group level

acquisition involving a non-trading shell company. This transaction has been accounted for in the consolidated 
Share-based Payment where the Atlantic 

listing status of the Company. The cost of acquisition is determined using the fair value of the issued equity of the 

Group:

(b) the assets and liabilities of the Company are recognised and measured in the consolidated statement of 
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1. Corporate information (cont’d)

1.2 Reverse acquisition undertaken by the Company (the “Reverse Acquisition”) (cont’d)

by adding to the issued equity of the Atlantic Group immediately before the reverse acquisition to the costs 

(i.e. the number and type of equity instruments issued) re!ect the equity structure of the legal parent (i.e. the 

At Company level

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of presentation

in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

policies below. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

performance or position of the Group and the Company.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012
Revised FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2013
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 1 January 2013
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013

1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2013
– Amendment to FRS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1 January 2013
Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2014
Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2014
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2014
FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2014
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014
Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014

Amendments to the transition guidance of FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements, FRS 
111 Joint Arrangements and FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 111 and FRS 27: Investment Entities 1 January 2014

The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 113 is 
described below.

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

FRS 113 Fair Value measurement provides a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements. FRS 113 
does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.  

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

– De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts 

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

 Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis.  The following differences, 
however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

– Acquisition of non-controlling interests, prior to 1 January 2010, were accounted for using the parent 

share of the net assets acquired were recognised in goodwill.

– Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance was 
reduced to nil. Any further losses were attributed to the Group, unless the non-controlling interest had 
a binding obligation to cover these.  Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not reallocated between 
non-controlling interest and the owners of the Company.

– Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share of net 
asset value at the date control was lost.  The carrying value of such investments as at 1 January 2010 
have not been restated.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(b) Business combinations

and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 

the services are received.

pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to 

 The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if 
any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share 

amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held 

2.5 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Functional currency

statements of each entity are measured using the functional currency.

 On 1 August 2012, the Company changed its functional currency from Singapore Dollars (“S$”) to US$. This 
is due to a change in circumstances affecting the operations and funding of the Company pursuant to the 
RTO, as any funding of the Company via dividend income received from its subsidiaries from 1 August 2012 

the change is applied prospectively from 1 August 2012. The change did not result in any material impact to 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5 Functional and foreign currency (cont’d)

(b) Transactions and balances

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries 

ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign 

2.6 Property, vessels and equipment

All items of property, vessels and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, vessels and 
equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of the property, vessels and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying property, vessel and equipment. The 
accounting policy for borrowing costs is set out in Note 2.15. The cost of an item of property, vessel and equipment 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the vessels and equipment as a 

loss as incurred.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Vessels 25 years
10 years

Apartments 20 years
5 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years 

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years 

The carrying values of property, vessels and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

prospectively, if appropriate.

year the asset is derecognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash in!ows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or 

model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets 

impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 

2.8 Subsidiaries

losses.

2.9 Financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 

initial recognition.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

(a) 

trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes 

interest and dividend income. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value 

would otherwise be required.

(b) Loans and receivables

at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in 

process.

De-recognition

and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 

Regular way purchase or sale of financial asset

the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be 
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are 

 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 

(b) Financial assets carried at cost

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash !ows 

reversed in subsequent periods.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

changes in value. 

2.12 Inventories

 When necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value of 
inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

is no longer probable that an out!ow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision 

2.14 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 

costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended 

is suspended if there are prolonged periods when development activity is interrupted. Borrowing costs consist of 
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

2.15 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 

Subsequent measurement

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes 

designated as effective hedging instruments.

or loss.

(b) Other financial liabilities

derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

De-recognition

of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. The 
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period. 

(b) Employees’ end of service benefits

entitlement.  

2.17 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 

For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 in 

(a) As lessee

(b) As lessor

amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The 
accounting policy for operating lease income (time charter income) is set out in Note 2.19(a).  

2.18 Revenue

revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The following 

(a) Marine logistics services

 Marine logistics services consist of services provided for time charter and voyage charter services.

(i) Time charter

Revenue arising from chartering of vessels is calculated on a time apportionment basis in accordance 

(ii) Voyage charter

Revenue arising from voyage charter is recognised upon the completion of the voyage. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.18 Revenue

(b) Ship repair, fabrication and other related marine services

Revenue from the provision of ship repair, fabrication and other marine related services are recognised by the 
stage of completion at each balance sheet date. Stage of completion is determined by reference to labour 
hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours for each contract. Where contract 

are recoverable. 

(c) Interest income

2.19 Hedge accounting

The Group applies hedge accounting for certain hedging relationships which qualify for hedge accounting.

At the inception of a hedging relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging relationship to 

or cash !ows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective 

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly as other comprehensive 

liability.

previously recognised in other comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income until the forecast 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.20 Segment reporting

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their services which are 
independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective 
segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Group who regularly 
reviews the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. 
Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 31, including the factors used to identify the 
reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.21 Share capital and share issue expenses

attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.22 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group, or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can 
be reliably determined.

2.23 Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and the Company if that person:

Company.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.23 Related parties (cont’d)

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies :

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

2.24 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, in the 

regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.24 Taxes

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

can be utilised. 

(c) Sales tax

3. Significant accounting estimates and judgments

disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset 
or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1  Judgments made in applying accounting policies

 No critical judgments were made by management in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

the Group. Such changes are re!ected in the assumptions when they occur.
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3. Significant accounting estimates and judgments (cont’d)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(a) Residual values and useful lives of vessels and equipment

The Group reviews the residual values and useful lives of vessels and equipment at the end of each reporting 
period in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.6. The cost of the vessels and equipment 
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the vessels and equipment’s estimated useful. Management 
estimates the useful life of the vessels and equipment to be within 3 to 25 years. 

of the Group’s vessels and equipment at 31 December 2012 was US$53,149,000 (2011: US$49,436,000). A 

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs to 
sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of 

calculation is based on a discounted cash !ow model. The cash !ows are derived from the budget for the 

future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The 
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash !ow model as well 

statements.

(c) Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 

When there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash !ows are estimated 

statements.

4. Revenue

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Marine logistics services:
- Time charter 32,188 36,665
- Voyage charter – 1,494
Ship repair, fabrication and other related marine services 3,159 2,518

35,347 40,677
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5. Other income

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Remission of debts to director-related companies – 3,725
– 14

Net gain on disposal of property, vessel and equipment 29 –
Net gain on disposal of investment securities 40 –
Claim received for late delivery of vessel from ship building 132 –
Miscellaneous income 34 127

235 3,866

companies were waived by the respective parties.
 

6. Finance costs

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

1,247 1,205
180 249

1,427 1,454

7. Other operating expenses

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Fair value loss on investment securities – 90

8. Non-operating expenses

Group
Note 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

3,657 –
Share-based payment as consideration for services rendered 23 154 –
Other transaction costs incurred in the reverse acquisition 13 1,558 –

5,369 –
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9. Profit before tax

Group
Note 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees paid to: 

- Auditors of the Company 61 34
- Other auditors 41 48
Non-audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 14 191
- Other auditors – 12
Total audit and non-audit fees 116 285

Depreciation of property, vessels and equipment 3,006 2,864
25 2,381 2,436

Allowance for doubtful trade debts 134 100
27(b) 8,154 8,350
15 495 2,514

10. Income tax expense

Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit

rate for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

610 11,256

operates (36) –
Adjustment:

36 –
– –

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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11. Earnings per share

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

610 11,256

No. of shares 
’000

No. of shares 
’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for basic and 
diluted earnings per share computation 240,712 228,422

Basic and diluted earnings per share (US$ cents) 0.25 4.93

The diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as there were no outstanding convertible 
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12. Property, vessels and equipment (cont’d)

The Company’s motor vehicles with a carrying value of US$2,000 as at 31 December 2011 had been disposed of 

Assets pledged as security

19).

Capital work-in-progress

The Restructuring Exercise

implemented in preparation for the RTO as described in Note 1.2 (the “Reverse Acquisition”).

LLC (“AMS”) and Trend Steel Construction and Engineering LLC (“TSC”) had been included in the combined 

shareholder of the Atlantic Group. 

vessel chartering business of AOS and the ship repair, fabrication and other related marine services of AMS and TSC 
were transferred to Atlantic Maritime Group FZE (“AMG”), a subsidiary of the Group. The corresponding businesses 
(including the related assets and reserves) of AOS, AMS and TSC which were not in relation to vessel chartering and 
ship repair, fabrication and other related marine services were transferred to Mr. Wong Siew Cheong pursuant to the 

13. Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 66,741 18,212
Less: Allowance for impairment – (18,212)+ 

66,741 –

 As at 31 December 2012, the subsidiaries of the Group relates to entities held directly or indirectly by the Company 

December 2011, the subsidiaries of the Group related to entities held directly or indirectly by the Company prior to 
the RTO. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name
Country of 

incorporation

Proportion (%) of 
ownership interest

2012 2011
Principal activities % %

Held by the Company:

* Atlantic Navigation Holdings 100 –

^ PRC To develop, manufacture and process 
various types of precision steel pipes and 
tubing for the automotive, oil and gas and 
machinery and equipment industries

– 100

^
Development Technology Co., 
Ltd

PRC To carry out research and development, 
design, manufacture and sale of steel 
pipes, equipment and facilities for use in 

– 100

@ Fit Result Enterprises Limited – 100

@ Total Boost Enterprises Limited – 100

 Held by Atlantic Navigation Holdings Inc.:

* Atlantic Maritime Group FZE UAE Commercial and administrative manager 
of the Group’s marine logistics services 
business and provider of ship repair, 
fabrication and other marine services 

100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Ship owner 100 –

* Atlantic Navigation Limited Ship owner 100 –
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

 Held by Atlantic Maritime Group FZE:

Name
Country of 

incorporation

Proportion (%) of 
ownership interest

2012 2011
Principal activities % %

** Atlantic Ship Management LLC UAE Ship management 49 –

 Held by Total Boost Enterprises Limited:

^
Precision Steel Pipe Co., Ltd

PRC To develop, manufacture and process 
various types of precision steel pipes and 
tubing for the automotive, oil and gas and 
machinery and equipment industries

– 55

@ These entities are not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

considered a subsidiary of the Group as the Directors have assessed and concluded that the Group has control over the 

Reverse acquisition

Group for accounting purposes, and the Company before the reverse acquisition (the “Acquiree”) became the 

follows:

US$’000

–
Fair value of consideration transferred (1) 3,657

income 3,657

(1)  The consideration was based on the Company’s entire share capital of 12,500,000 consolidated shares before the reverse 
acquisition using fair value of S$0.36 (equivalent to US$0.29) per share, representing the fair value of the issued equity of 
the Company before the reverse acquisition.
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14. Investment securities

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Held for trading investments

– 123

15. Inventories

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Statement of financial position:
Raw materials 230 535

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
495 2,514

for inventory obsolescence.

16. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables 5,941 6,079 – –
Deposits 112 9 – –
Advances to staff 22 20 – –
Advances to suppliers 242 17 – –
Unbilled receivables 256 355 – –
Due from director-related companies (trade) 3,708 1,110 – –
Due from a subsidiary (non-trade) – – 7,894 –
Due from director-related companies (non-trade) – – – 40
Total trade and other receivables 10,281 7,590 7,894 40

Add:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)- 7,493 1,019 814 25

- 136 2,055 – –
Total loans and receivables 17,910 10,664 8,708 65
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16. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Arab Emirates Dirham 1,519 529

Due to director-related companies (trade and non-trade)/due from a subsidiary (non-trade)

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable upon demand and are to be settled in cash.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to US$2,373,000 (2011: US$1,817,000) that were past due at the end 
of the reporting period but not impaired. These trade receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging is as 
follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables past due:
  Less than 30 days 838 1,459
  31 to 60 days 128 254
  More than 60 days 1,407 104

2,373 1,817

Receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 

Group
Collectively impaired
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables - nominal amounts 713 100
Less: Allowance for impairment (134) (100)

579 –

 Movement in the allowance accounts:

At 1 January 100 57
Charge for the year 134 100
Written off (100) (57)
At 31 December 134 100

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors 

collateral or credit enhancement.
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17. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 7,493 1,019 814 25
136 2,055 – –

7,629 3,074 814 25

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Arab Emirates Dirham 1,855 675 – –
Singapore Dollars 784 – 784 –
Renminbi 1 – – 25

2,640 675 784 25

18. Derivatives

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000
Notional 
amount Assets

Notional 
amount Assets

14,713 300 19,617 618

Add: Held for trading investments (Note 14) – 123

or loss 300 741

annum on the notional amount on a bi-annual basis. The swap is being used to hedge the Group’s cash !ow interest 
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19. Loans and borrowings

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Current: 

(1) 4,904 4,904
(2) – 584

4,904 5,488

Non-current:

(1) 9,809 14,713
Total loans and borrowings 14,713 20,201

instalment due in September 2015. The securities provided for this loan comprise: 
 

– Mortgage over certain vessels (Note 12)
– Assignment of earnings, insurances and requisition compensation of mortgaged vessels
– Assignment of all rights, title and interests of mortgaged vessels’ charters
– Corporate guarantee by a director-related company
– Pledge of all shares of certain director-related companies

instalment due in April 2012. The securities provided for this loan comprise: 
 

– Mortgage over certain vessels (Note 12)
– Corporate guarantee by the Company, Atlantic Maritime Group FZE, a subsidiary of the Group, and a director-

related company
– Personal guarantee by a director

Waiver of loan covenant

According to the terms of the agreement, the Group is required to contribute to a retention account on a monthly 

instalment of the USD loan. 

retention account as at the end of the reporting period. Concurrently, the Group has obtained a waiver from the 

not payable on demand as at 31 December 2012.
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20. Provisions

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Employees’ end of service benefits
At 1 January 484 398

Provision made 96 147
Provision utilised (94) (61)

At 31 December 486 484

(b) 30 days salary for each additional year using last drawn salary, provided that total EOSB amount should not 

Annual discount rate:    8%
Future annual salary increment:  5% to 10%

21. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Current:

Trade payables 6,711 2,003 – –
Other payables          8,809 36 82 2,628
Due to director-related companies (trade) 516 – – –
Due to a shareholder (non-trade) 2,025 – – –
Due to directors (non-trade) 65 – 65 87

18,126 2,039 147 2,715

Non-current:
Other payable – – – 2,558
Total trade and other payables 18,126 2,039 147 5,273

Add:
- Other liabilities (Note 22) 1,242 951 61 –
- Loans and borrowings (Note 19) 14,713 20,201 – –

34,081 23,191 208 5,273
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21. Trade and other payables (cont’d)

 Trade payables/other payables

These amounts are non-interest bearing. Trade and other payables are normally settled on 30 to 60 days’ term.

Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Arab Emirates Dirham 4,329 852

Due to director-related companies (trade)/due to directors (non-trade)

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.

Due to a shareholder (non-trade)

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.

One of the shareholders has provided an unsecured loan amounting to US$2,000,000. The loan is interest bearing at 
2.5% per annum and repayable in 2013.

22. Other liabilities

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

1,009 938 61 –
Advances from customers 233 13 – –

1,242 951 61 –
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23. Share capital

Group Company
No. of 

shares’000 (1) US$’000
No. of shares 

’000 (1) US$’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
At 1 January 2011 125,000 218 125,000 10,289

Adjustment pursuant to the Restructuring 
(7) – (218) – –

At 31 December 2011 and 
 1 January 2012 125,000 – * 125,000 10,289

Share consolidation 12,500 – * 12,500 10,289

acquisition  228,125 3,657(4) 228,125 66,741(3)

(5) 17,000 8,842 17,000 8,842

compliance placement fees (6) 2,969 1,544 2,969 1,544
(5) – (1,673) – (1,673)

Effect of change in functional currency – – – (209)
248,094 12,370 248,094 75,245

At 31 December 2012 260,594 12,370(2) 260,594 85,534

* Less than US$1,000.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry 
one vote per share without restrictions.  The ordinary shares have no par value.

(1) The equity structure (i.e. the number and types of equity instruments issued) re!ect the equity structure of the Company, 
being the legal parent, including the equity instruments issued by the Company to effect the reverse acquisition. 

the issued equity of the Atlantic Group immediately before the reverse acquisition to the costs of the reverse acquisition.

allotment and issuance of 228,125,000 ordinary shares at S$0.36 (equivalent to US$0.29) per share in the capital of the 
Company on 31 July 2012. 

than the estimated fair value of the share in the Atlantic Group. The consideration transferred is determined using the 
fair value of the issued equity of the Company before the acquisition, being 12,500,000 shares at S$0.36 (equivalent to 
US$0.29) per share, which represents the fair value of the Company being the quoted and traded price of the shares at 31 
July 2012 (date of completion of acquisition).

(5) Pursuant to the resolutions passed on 20 July 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the issue of 17,000,000 
new ordinary shares for compliance placement at an issue price of S$0.64 (equivalent to US$0.52) per share. Share 

below.

(6) Relates to the service fee shares of 2,968,750 ordinary shares at S$0.64 per share issued to UOBKH on 2 October 2012. 
The total service fees for UOBKH was S$1,900,000 (equivalent to US$1,544,000). 

 Of the total service fees of S$1,900,000 (equivalent to US$1,544,000),

 (a)  S$190,000 (US$154,000) related to UOBKH’s services for introducing the Atlantic Group to Fastube Limited. The 
service fee shares have been accounted for as a share-based payment in accordance with FRS 102 Share-based 
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23. Share capital (cont’d)

 (b)  S$1,710,000 (US$1,390,000) related to services rendered by UOBKH that was directly in relation to the compliance 
placement, with fair value of consideration amounting to US$1,390,000 having been deducted from share capital.

24. Other reserves

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Hedging reserve (a) (300) (618) – –
Merger reserve (b) 259 259 – –
Foreign currency translation reserve (c) – – – 612
Share award reserve (d) – – – 20
Statutory reserve (e) – – – –

(41) (359) – 632

(a) Hedging reserve

 This represents the gain or loss on fair value changes in derivatives (Note 18) which is recognised directly as 
other comprehensive income.

(b) Merger reserve

 This represents the difference between the consideration paid and the paid-in capital of the subsidiaries when 
entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest method, as described in 

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve

 As at 31 December 2011, the foreign currency translation reserve arose from the translation of the Company’s 
assets and liabilities. With effect from 1 August 2012, the Company changed its functional currency from 
S$ to US$. Accordingly, as the functional and presentation currencies of the Company are both US$, the 

(d) Share award reserve

 The Company granted 1,718,000 shares award (“Award”) pursuant to the Atlantic Restricted Share Plan to 
eligible participants of the Company on 6 May 2009. The vesting period of the Award is from the date of grant 
to 6 May 2014. One of the vesting conditions of the Awards is that the eligible participants must remain in 
employment with the Company during the vesting period. As at 31 December 2012, all the eligible participants 
have left the Company. There were no share awards outstanding as at 31 December 2012. 

(e) Statutory reserve

the board of directors of the company until the cumulative total of the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the 
company’s registered capital. 

reserves of AOS, AMS and TSC were not transferred to the Group.
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25. Employee benefits expense

Group
Note 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 2,285 2,289
20 96 147

2,381 2,436

26. Related party transactions

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Chartering of vessels and provision of chandlery and other services to 
director-related companies 6,205 1,787

Cross chartering of vessels from director-related companies – 300
Management fees to director-related companies 313 3,263
Acquisition of property, vessels and equipment from director-related 

companies 492 –

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

664 525
Others 261 202

925 727

Comprises amounts paid to:
Directors of the Company 571 349

354 378
925 727

(c) Commitments with related parties

On 1 January 2011, Atlantic Maritime Group FZE entered into agreements with Atlantic Offshore Services LLC 
and Atlantic Marine Services LLC for administrative and ship management services provided by the above 

2013. The agreements remain in effect until terminated by notice.
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27. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

statements are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Capital commitments in respect of property, vessels and equipment 702 2,132

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessee

The Group entered into non-cancellable lease agreements as lessee for vessels and operating premises. 

renewal rights can be found in some of these lease agreements.

2012 amounted to US$8,154,000 (2011: US$8,350,000).

Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the reporting period are 
as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Not later than one year 1,885 4,650
204 –

2,089 4,650

(c) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

Operating lease commitments relates to vessels. There was no contingent rent component included under the 
above non-cancellable leases relating to lease out arrangements for vessels owned by the Group as at the 
end of the reporting period.

Future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Not later than one year 18,955 10,053
12,775 –
31,730 10,053



Annual Report 2012 69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

28. Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts 
are a reasonable approximation of fair value

Trade and other receivables (Note 16), trade and other payables (Note 21), other liabilities (Note 22) and loans and 
borrowings (Note 19)

near the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

instruments respectively carried at fair value at the balance sheet date.

Fair value hierarchy

Determination of fair value

of the reporting period.

inputs. 

29. Financial risk management objectives and policies
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk

Excessive risk concentration

Concentration arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities 
in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations 
indicate the relative sensitivity of the group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.

the relationship and industry levels.

Exposure to credit risk

position. 

Credit risk concentration profile

2012 2011
US$’000 % of Total US$’000 % of Total

By country:
United Arab Emirates 3,755 63% 4,441 73%

758 13% 604 10%
Other GCC countries 874 15% 786 13%
Others 554 9% 248 4%

5,941 100% 6,079 100%

from 5 major customers.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with good 

default. 

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk

27%) of the Group’s loans and borrowings will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount 

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

One year or 
less

One to five 
years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group

2012
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 10,281 – 10,281
Cash and cash equivalents 7,493 – 7,493

136 – 136
17,910 – 17,910

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 18,126 – 18,126
Other liabilities 1,242 – 1,242
Derivatives 215 85 300
Loans and borrowings 5,877 11,397 17,274

25,460 11,482 36,942

(7,550) (11,482) (19,032)
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

One year or 
less

One to five 
years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Group
2011
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 7,590 – 7,590
Cash and cash equivalents 1,019 – 1,019

2,055 – 2,055
10,664 – 10,664

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,039 – 2,039
Other liabilities 951 – 951
Derivatives 296 322 618
Loans and borrowings 6,413 18,614 25,027

9,699 18,936 28,635

965 (18,936) (17,971)

One year or 
less

One to five 
years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
2012
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 7,894 – 7,894
Cash and cash equivalents 814 – 814

8,708 – 8,708

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 147 – 147
Other liabilities 61 – 61

208 – 208

8,500 – 8,500
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

One year or 
less

One to five 
years Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Company
2011
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 40 – 40
Cash and cash equivalents 25 – 25

65 – 65

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,715 2,558 5,273

2,715 2,558 5,273

(2,650) (2,558) (5,208)

(c) Foreign currency risk 

The Group’s operations are primarily conducted in USD and Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”).

capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances are mainly in AED.

30. Capital management

Capital includes debt and equity items as disclosed in the table below.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group 
includes within net debt, trade and other payables, other liabilities, loans and borrowings, less cash and cash 
equivalents. Capital refers to equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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30. Capital management (cont’d)

Group
Note 2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

Trade and other payables 21 18,126 2,039
Other liabilities 22 1,242 951
Loans and borrowings 19 14,713 20,201
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 17 (7,493) (1,019)
Net debt 26,588 22,172

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 58,064 44,766

Capital and net debt 84,652 66,938

Gearing ratio 31% 33%

31. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on services provided, and has two 
reportable operating segments as follows:

Marine logistic services

Ship repair, fabrication and other marine services

The ship repair, fabrication and other marine services segment provides repairs and maintenance of marine 
equipment, engines, heavy machines and related marine services.

segments. 

about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 

to operating segments. 
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31. Segment information (cont’d)

Marine 
logistics 
services

Ship repair, 
fabrication and 
other marine 

services Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2012
Revenue:

32,188 3,159 35,347

Results:
9,911 1,095 11,006

2011
Revenue:

38,159 2,518 40,677

Results:
12,416 988 13,404

Geographical information

Revenue information based on the geographical location of customers and assets respectively are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

US$’000 US$’000

UAE 27,954 32,565
3,541 2,187

Other GCC countries 1,863 4,669
Singapore 1,577 1,192
Others 412 64

35,347 40,677

The Group’s non-current assets are located in the UAE. 

Information about major customers

US$770,000 (2011: US$902,000), arising from sales by the ship repair, fabrication and other marine services 
segment. 
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32. Comparatives

The Group has changed its presentation currency from AED to USD with effect from 1 January 2012. Concurrently, 
the Company changed its presentation currency from Renminbi (“RMB”) to USD. 

used by the Group is AED3.67 to USD1.00, the change in presentation currency of the Group from AED to USD does 

2011 has not been presented.

As a result of the change in presentation currency of the Company from RMB to USD, the 2011 comparatives of the 

have been translated into USD.

The summarised line items as at 31 December 2011 that have been restated are as follows:

Company

Restated
Previously 
reported

US$’000 RMB’000

31.12.2011
Property, vessels and equipment 2 13
Trade and other receivables 40 253
Prepayments 1 3
Cash and cash equivalents 25 157
Trade and other payables (current) 2,715 17,009
Other payable (non-current) 2,558 16,023
Share capital 10,289 73,681
Other reserves 632 1,646
Accumulated losses 16,126 107,933

33. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

resolution of the directors on 28 March 2013.
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Total number of shares : 260,593,750
Number of treasury shares : Nil
Class of shares : Ordinary shares fully paid
Voting rights : One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 – 999 68 23.05 29,100 0.01
1,000 – 10,000 107 36.27 351,800 0.14
10,001 – 1,000,000 110 37.29 17,301,100 6.64
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 10 3.39 242,911,750 93.21

TOTAL 295 100.00 260,593,750 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1 Wong Siew Cheong 173,000,000 66.39

2 Chong Mee Chin 33,375,000 12.81

3 Wong Siew Chong 10,000,000 3.84

4 Gong Yucai 8,000,000 3.07

5 Mohammadreza Sadeghi (1) 6,750,000 2.59

6 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 3,582,750 1.37

7 3,300,000 1.27

8 Xia Jing 2,000,000 0.77

9 1,699,000 0.65

10 Yao Hsiao Tung 1,205,000 0.46

11 Chai Hwee Hoon Doreen 890,000 0.34

12 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 815,000 0.31

13 Tan Ah Lye 815,000 0.31

14 TAL Capital Pte Ltd 785,000 0.30

15 Tan Ban Ser 785,000 0.30

16 Tan Lay Tiong Anthony 785,000 0.30

17 Yap Hoon Hong 784,000 0.30

18 780,000 0.30

19 Teo Hui Meng Robert 500,000 0.19

20 Keng Chee Chiang (Kang Zhiqiang) 422,200 0.16

TOTAL 250,272,950 96.03



Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited78

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 20 March 2013

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 20 March 2013

Number of Shares fully paid

Name of Substantial Shareholders Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Wong Siew Cheong 173,000,000 66.39 33,375,000(1) 12.81

Chong Mee Chin 33,375,000 12.81 – –

Note:

(1) Mr Wong Siew Cheong is deemed to be interested in the shareholdings of his spouse, Madam Chong Mee Chin.

PUBLIC FLOAT

held in the hands of the public (based on information available to the Company). Accordingly, the Company has complied 
with Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Atlantic Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited (the 
“Company
Monday, 29 April 2013 at 10.30 a.m. to transact the following business:-

ORDINARY BUSINESS

year ended 31 December 2012 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)
 
2. To re-elect Mr Lee Kah Hoo who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of 

(Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect Mr Tong Choo Cherng who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of 
(Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Mr Goh Boon Chye who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of 
(Resolution 4)

5. To re-elect Mr Eu Lee Koon who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of 
(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

7.  To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

8. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$80,167.76 for the year ended 31 December 2012. (2011: S$67,000.00) 
   (Resolution 7)

9. Authority to issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 
and Rule 806 of the Singapore Exchange Trading Limited Listing Manual - Section B: Rules of Catalist 

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual - Section B: Rules 
of Catalist (“Catalist Rules SGX-ST”), authority be and is 
hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue shares in the Company at anytime to such persons 

are outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or 

(Resolution 8)
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10. Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Employees Share Option Scheme

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 
empowered to offer and grant options under the Atlantic Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the “Atlantic ESOS”) 
and to issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued 

subsistence of this authority or otherwise, provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to 

(Resolution 9)
 

11. Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Performance Share Plan

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be authorised and 
empowered to offer and grant awards under the Atlantic Performance Share Plan (the “Atlantic PSP”) and to issue 
from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to 
the vesting of awards under the Atlantic PSP, whether granted during the subsistence of this authority or otherwise, 
provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the Atlantic PSP, 

(Resolution 10)

12. Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Restricted Share Plan

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered 
to offer and grant awards under the Atlantic Restricted Share Plan (the “Atlantic RSP”) and to issue from time to time 
such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of awards 
under the Atlantic RSP, whether granted during the subsistence of this authority or otherwise, provided always that the 
aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the Atlantic RSP, Atlantic ESOS and Atlantic 

(Resolution 11)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Singapore, 12 April 2013
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Explanatory Notes:-

(i) Mr Lee Kah Hoo, if re-elected as a Director of the Company, will remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee, a 
member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered as an independent director.

be considered as a non-independent director.

(iii)  Mr Goh Boon Chye, if re-elected as a Director of the Company, will remain as Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
a member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered as an independent 
director.

(iv)  Mr Eu Lee Koon, if re-elected as a Director of the Company, will remain as Chairman of the  Remuneration Committee, 
a member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee and will be considered as an independent director.

(v) The ordinary resolution set out in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date 

(vi) The ordinary resolution set out in item 10, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the 

or to be granted under the Atlantic ESOS provided that the aggregate additional shares to be issued pursuant to the 

from time to time.

(vii) The ordinary resolution set out in item 11 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date 

in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in the Company pursuant to the vesting of awards under 
the Atlantic PSP provided that the aggregate additional shares to be issued pursuant to the Atlantic ESOS, Atlantic PSP 

(viii) The ordinary resolution set out in item 12 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date 

in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in the Company pursuant to the vesting of awards under 
the Atlantic RSP provided that the aggregate additional shares to be issued pursuant to the Atlantic ESOS, Atlantic PSP 
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Notes:- 

  

01, Singapore 049909 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting.
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(SINGAPORE) LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 200411055E)

PROXY FORM 
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(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

 
of 

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

 on Monday, 29 April 2013 

discretion.  The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to:  For Against
Ordinary Business

1
2012

2 Re-election of Mr Lee Kah Hoo as a Director 
3 Re-election of Mr Tong Choo Cherng as a Director 
4 Re-election of Mr Goh Boon Chye as a Director 
5 Re-election of Mr Eu Lee Koon as a Director 
6

Special Business
7

December 2012 
8 Authority to issue new shares
9 Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Employees Share Option Scheme
10 Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Performance Share Plan
11 Authority to issue shares under the Atlantic Restricted Share Plan

Dated this  day of  2013

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

* Delete where inapplicable

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Atlantic 

Navigation Holdings (Singapore) Limited’s shares, this Report is 
forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved Nominees 

ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 
used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must 
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within 

their voting instructions to the CPF Approved Nominees within the 





Notes:

against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of 

you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) 

Singapore 049909 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

to the Company.
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